January 9, 2009

EA-06-140

Mr. Russell B. Starkey

Vice President, Operations

United States Enrichment Corporation
Two Democracy Center

6903 Rockledge Drive

Bethesda, MD 20817

SUBJECT:  APPARENT VIOLATION OF 10 CFR 76.7 EMPLOYEE PROTECTION
REQUIREMENTS (U.S. ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW BOARD, ARB CASE NO.
06-055, 06-058, and 06-119, ALJ CASE NO. 2004-ERA-0001)

Dear Mr. Starkey:

This is in reference to an apparent violation of the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC)
requirements prohibiting discrimination against employees who engage in protected activities,
i.e., 10 CFR 76.7. The apparent violation involves the U.S. Enrichment Corporation (USEC)
discriminating against a former quality control (QC) manager at the Paducah Gaseous Diffusion
Plant (Paducah) in November 2002.

The apparent violation is based on the decisions by an Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) and the
Administrative Review Board (ARB) in a U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) proceeding. The
presiding ALJ issued a Proposed Decision and Order on January 27, 2006, concluding that
USEC had discriminated against the former QC manager in violation of Section 211 of the
Energy Reorganization Act of 1974, as amended (the ERA) (ALJ Case No. 2004-ERA-0001).
On April 6, 2006, the NRC sent you a letter informing you of NRC’s concern that, because of the
ALJ decision, there existed the potential for a chilling effect on the safety conscious work
environment at Paducah. In its letter, the NRC sought information regarding the actions USEC
had taken, was taking, or planned to take to prevent the event from having a negative effect on
the willingness of Paducah employees to raise safety concerns. On May 8, 2006, you
responded to the NRC letter. Subsequently, the ALJ’s findings of fact and conclusions were
reviewed by the DOL’s ARB (ARB Case No. 06-055, 06-058, and 06-119). On August 29, 2008,
the ARB issued its Final Decision and Order affirming the ALJ’s findings of fact and conclusions.
A copy of the ARB’s Final Decision and Order is enclosed.

Based on information developed by the NRC and the DOL decisions, the NRC concludes that a
former QC manager engaged in protected activities when: (1) he filed an assessment and
tracking report regarding safe operation of the crane used to lift uranium hexafluoride cylinders;
(2) he filed complaints with the Employee Concerns Department, the NRC, and DOL; and (3) he
participated in NRC meetings. Plant management and/or mid-level management knew of the
former QC manager’s protected activities which were a contributing factor in USEC’s decision to
terminate his employment. Therefore, this apparent violation is being considered for escalated



R. Starkey 2

enforcement action including imposition of a civil penalty in accordance with the NRC
Enforcement Policy. The current Enforcement Policy is included on the NRC’s web site at
http://www.nrc.gov/about-nrc/regulatory/enforcement/enforce-pol.htmil.

Before the NRC makes its enforcement decision, we are offering USEC the opportunity to:
(1) request alternative dispute resolution (ADR) or (2) respond in writing to the apparent violation
within thirty (30) days of the date of this letter.

ADR is a general term encompassing various techniques for resolving conflicts using a third
party neutral. The technique that the NRC has decided to employ is mediation. Mediation is a
voluntary, informal process in which a trained neutral (the “mediator”) works with parties to help
them reach resolution. If the parties agree to use ADR, they select a mutually agreeable neutral
mediator who has no stake in the outcome and no power to make decisions. Mediation gives
parties an opportunity to discuss issues, clear up misunderstandings, be creative, find areas of
agreement, and reach a final resolution of the issues. Additional information concerning the
NRC's program can be obtained at http://www.nrc.gov/what-we-
do/requlatory/enforcement/adr.html. The Institute on Conflict Resolution (ICR) at Cornell
University has agreed to facilitate the NRC's program as a neutral third party. Please contact
ICR at 877-733-9415 within 10 days of the date of this letter if you are interested in pursuing
resolution of this issue through ADR.

Should you choose to engage in ADR, it should not be deemed as an opportunity for USEC to
contest the DOL decisions. Therefore, we do not expect you to discuss the DOL decisions in
any detail. Rather, our primary interest is the action(s) USEC has taken, or is planning to take,
to address the environment for raising concerns at Paducah, and to correct the apparent
violation of 10 CFR 76.7.

Should you choose to provide a written response, it should be clearly marked as a “Response to
An Apparent Violation,” EA-06-140, and should include for the apparent violation: (1) the reason
for the apparent violation, or, if contested, the basis for disputing the apparent violation; (2) the
corrective steps that have been taken and the results achieved; (3) the corrective steps that will
be taken to avoid further violations; and (4) the date when full compliance will be achieved. "In
presenting your corrective actions, you should be aware that the promptness and
comprehensiveness of your actions will be considered in assessing any civil penalty for the
apparent violation(s). The guidance in the enclosed NRC Information Notice 96-28, "Suggested
Guidance Relating to Development and Implementation of Corrective Action," may be helpful."

Your response should be submitted under oath or affirmation and may reference or include
previously docketed correspondence, if not received within the time specified, or an extension of
time has not been granted by the NRC, the NRC will proceed with its enforcement decision. Any
written response should be sent to the Director, Office of Enforcement, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory
Commission, Mail Stop O-4A15A, 11555 Rockville Pike, Rockville, MD 20852.

Please contact Mr. Russell Arrighi, Senior Enforcement Specialist, NRC Office of Enforcement,
at (301) 415-0205 or via e-mail at Russell. Arrighi@nrc.gov if you have any questions or for
additional information.
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In accordance with 10 CFR 2.390 of the NRC's "Rules of Practice," a copy of this letter, its
enclosure(s), and your response, if you choose to provide one, will be made available
electronically for public inspection in the NRC Public Document Room or from the NRC’s
document system (ADAMS), accessible from the NRC Web site at http://www.nrc.gov/reading-
rm/adams.html. To the extent possible, your response should not include any personal privacy,
proprietary, or safeguards information so that it can be made available to the Public without
redaction.

Sincerely,
IRA/

Cynthia A. Carpenter, Director
Office of Enforcement

Docket Nos.: 070-07001
Certificate No.: GDP-1

Enclosures:
1) NRC Information Notice 96-28
2) ARB Final Decision and Order, dated August 29, 2008

cc w/out encl:

S. Penrod, General Plant Manager, Paducah

V. Shanks, Manager, Nuclear Regulatory Affairs, Paducah

W. Jordan, General Manager, Paducah

S.A. Toelle, Nuclear Assurance and Policy, USEC

R.M. DeVault, Manager Regulatory Oversight, DOE

G.A. Newton, Paducah Site Office, DOE

D. Crawford, Manager Radiation Health Branch, Cabinet for Health and Family Services
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Electronic DISTRIBUTION :(w/o enclosure)
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C. Marco, OGC J. Longo, OGC
R. Wharton, NMSS D. Dorman, NMSS
M. Tschiltz, NMSS M. Raddatz, NMSS

T. Liu, NMSS Paducah Senior Resident Inspector
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J. Pelchat, RII M. Miller, RII
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